
 

 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, November 9, 2023                                                                              Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of October 26, 2023 

 
4. Public Hearing: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C (Unit 3 on Plat of Survey) – CNC Lawncare (Ref#107) 

CONTINUATION OF PUBLIC HEARING FROM 10/26/23) 
Requests: (1) Special Use Permit for a Landscape Business; and (2) Special Use Permit for Outdoor Storage 
of uncontained bulk materials in the I-2 General Industrial District (PINs: 19-09-34-103-009-1001, 19-09-
34-902-000-0000, 19-09-34-100-071-0000). 

 
5. 1.5 Mile Review: Will County Zoning Case #ZC-23-073 (Stuenkel Solar Farm I, LLC) 

Request: Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility in the A-1 Agricultural District for 
property located on the south side of Stuenkel Road, approximately ¼ mile east of 88th Avenue (PIN: 18-
13-11-100-005-0000). 

 
6. 1.5 Mile Review: Will County Zoning Case #ZC-23-091 (Kuse Solar Farm, LLC) 

Request: Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility in the A-1 Agricultural District for 
property located at the southwest corner of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road (PIN: 18-13-05-400-012-0000). 

 
7. Public Comments 
 
8. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
9. Other Business 

 
10. Attendance Confirmation (December 14, 2023) 

 
11. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        October 26, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Will Markunas, Dan Knieriem, Brian 
James, Johnny Morris 

Commissioners Absent: David Hogan, Jessica Jakubowski 

Staff Present: Planning & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Senior Planner Christopher Gruba  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from October 12th, 2023 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.  There were none.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from October 12th, 2023, as presented. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

B. Public Hearing: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C (Unit 3 on Plat of Survey) – CNC 
Lawncare  

Chair Schaeffer asked any members of the audience wishing to speak on public hearing 
items this evening to raise their right hands.  She swore in members of the audience. 

Chair Schaeffer read the agenda for 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C – CNC Lawncare. 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if they wished to add anything.  The applicant, Chad 
Uthe, said he did not.  

 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 2 
 

Commissioner James asked the applicant if he was currently operating the business and if 
so, for how long.  Mr. Uthe replied that he has been operating the business on the property 
since about August 2020.  

Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission if the proposed uses were reasonable.  She noted 
that the outside needs to be tidied up.   

Commissioner Markunas asked whether the concrete storage bins would be relocated to 
where they are illustrated on the plans.  Mr. Uthe responded yes.  Commissioner Markunas 
asked if there would be no other storage of materials on the property. Mr. Uthe responded 
that that was correct.  Commissioner Markunas asked how the land around the storage bins 
would be graded.  Mr. Uthe replied that there would be compacted stone.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if the owner of the property was present.  Mr. 
Uthe responded that he was not.  Commissioner Knieriem said that he was surprised by 
that because a lot of the discussion and requests would largely affect him as the owner.  
Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if the owner was aware of the meeting.  Mr. 
Uthe responded that he didn’t think that the owner was informed.  Mr. Uthe said that the 
owner was not opposed to combining the two parcels as proposed.  Commissioner 
Knieriem asked the applicant if he brought potential clients to the property.  Mr. Uthe 
replied no.  Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was proud of the appearance 
of the property.  Mr. Uthe responded that he was not, but that he is in the process of cleaning 
up the property.  Commissioner Knieriem said that since the business has been operating 
for three years that that was a lot of time to make progress on the cleanup.  He noted that 
there are cars on the property that don’t have windows or wheels.  Mr. Uthe responded that 
he does not own those cars, but that he will get them removed.  Commissioner Knieriem 
asked who owns the vehicles.  Mr. Uthe responded that it was someone that he knows.  
Commissioner Knieriem said that the appearance of the property has gotten worse since 
the last time the project came before the PC/ZBA and that it doesn’t meet Frankfort’s 
standards.  Commissioner Knieriem asked about water and drainage on the site.  He noted 
that dirt is being moved on the site and asked if the applicant was trying to expand the size 
of the lot.  Mr. Uthe responded that they brought in piles of aggregate in order to prevent 
water from reaching the culverts.  Commissioner Knieriem asked if the drains weren’t 
working.  Mr. Uthe replied that the existing piles of aggregate were not allowing water to 
move.   

Commissioner Markunas asked who would be responsible for improving the property. Mr. 
Uthe said the he would be responsible, not the owner.  Commissioner Markunas asked the 
applicant if he was coordinating the lot consolidation as well.  Mr. Uthe said that the owner 
would be handling the lot consolidation.   

Mr. Morris said that he would have wanted the owner to be present at the public hearing.  
Commissioner James agreed and added that support from the owner will be imperative 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 3 
 

once the project reaches the Village Board.  He suggested tabling the public hearing until 
a later date when the owner could attend.  

Chair Schaeffer said that the conditions of approval are predicated on whether the owner 
will consolidate the parcels and that it would be best to consolidate the parcels. Otherwise, 
if the parcels change ownership in the future, the parcel with road frontage could restrict 
access to the parcel without frontage.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if the applicant was granted a business license.  Mike Schwarz 
replied no.  Mr. Uthe said that he had applied for a business license.  Mike Schwarz added 
that if the property were granted a Special Use Permit, that it would run with the land, even 
if the property ownership changed hands, as long as the property were operated in about 
the same way.  

Chair Schaeffer said that requesting that the business operations be tidy was not an 
unreasonable request and that they should consider paving the site.  Commissioner 
Markunas said that any junk vehicles should be removed as soon as possible.  He added 
that it would be difficult to vote on the public hearing requests without the owner present. 
Chair Schaeffer recommended that the applicant elect to table the public hearing until a 
future meeting when the owner could be present, but that this decision to table was his.  
Mr. Uthe requested that the public hearing be tabled until November 9th.  

Adjacent property owner, Ron Kirsch, approached the podium.  He said that he owns the 
building to the west at 155 Industry.  He said that he’s witnessed the property change and 
change ownership since 1977.  He noted that there are concrete blocks that have been 
pushed over, which are a safety hazard.  He said that the fence is damaged between the 
subject property and the mini-storage warehouse property, which should be removed and 
replaced.  He said that burning of materials also occasionally happens on the subject 
property, and odors and smoke sometimes blow onto his property.  He had asked the 
manager of the property to cease burning materials on site, but their response was that 
burning occurs after business hours or on weekends.  He said that the gutters are coming 
off the roof of the subject property and that he would like to see proper stormwater drainage 
because it does lead to occasional flooding on his property.  

Motion (#2):  To keep open and continue the public hearing until November 9th, 2023. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

C. Public Hearing: 21420 S. Harlem Avenue – Thrift Home & Restoration (The Bridge 
Teen Center)  
 
Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 4 
 

The applicant, Rob Steinmetz, along wife Priscilla Steinmetz, Executive Director of The 
Bridge Teen Center, and the Project Architect Patrick McCarty, signed in at the podium.   

Chair Schaeffer thanked the applicant for incorporating the Commission’s comments from 
the last meeting.  She asked if the building would be wood-sided. The applicant responded 
yes, and that it would not be a wood composite, but stained cedar that tends to be weather 
and insect resistant.  She asked what style of gates would be used on the trash enclosure.  
The applicant responded that the trash enclosure would be constructed of brick to match 
the building and be 6’ tall.  He said that it would have a wood cedar gate.   

Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission if anyone had comments regarding Condition #1, 
regarding cleanup of the drop-off area at the end of the business day.  There were no 
objections.  

Chair Schaeffer asked for comments regarding Condition #2, regarding the turnoff of 
parking lot lights after hours.  Commissioner Morris asked the applicant if he had had any 
conversations with the HOA about this.   

The Georgetown HOA president, Jenny Bulthuis, approached the podium.  She said that 
lighting was one of the HOA’s main concerns.  She said that she’s also concerned about 
the lighting in the cupolas and asked if those could be turned off after hours as well.  The 
applicant responded that yes, the cupola internal lighting would be turned off at the same 
time as the parking lot lights, after business hours.  The architect did note that the lights 
within the cupolas would have more of soft glow and not shine like a rotating beacon.  He 
added that all of the light lumens were well under the maximum brightness permitted by 
code.  Commissioner Morris said that there should be some lighting on the site for security.  
The architect noted that the building would still have lights at entrances and have cameras 
and a security system.  Chair Schaeffer asked if the parking lot lights and cupola lighting 
would turn off within 1 hour after close.  The architect responded yes.  She asked about the 
intent of the building lights.  The architect replied that they would be building-mounted 
lights like on a house.   

Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission if anyone had any concerns about the several non-
conforming aspects of the site.  There were none.  

Commissioner Markunas asked the architect why the freestanding sign would be set back 
at 10’ from the front property line instead of the required 25’.  The architect replied that a 
25’ setback would force a location of the ground sign within the existing private drive aisle.  

The topic of a multi-use path along Harlem Avenue was raised.  Commissioner Knieriem 
said that Harlem Avenue is not a heavily biked road and that a bike path would be rather 
foolish.  He also said that there’s not a lot of existing businesses in this area to serve as 
destinations.  He suggested that the installation of the path could be delayed until the area 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 5 
 

became more developed.  Commissioner Markunas said that it may be best to request 
construction of the sidewalk or provide a cash-in-lieu donation.  Commissioner James said 
that connections to the Old Plank Road Trail are more important than connections to 
Harlem Avenue.  

Chair Schaeffer raised the topic of non-conforming height of the existing light poles.  She 
preferred that the light poles remained as-is, instead cutting them shorter to comply with 
the code.  

Chair Schaeffer raised the topic of phasing landscaping.  She said that it made sense to 
allow the landscaping to be installed in phases, but that there should be a timeframe in 
which to do so.  Mike Schwarz read staff’s recommended language for landscaping 
phasing.  He noted that the landscaping could be installed within 3 years of the date of 
Village Board approval or within 1 year of development of Lot 2, whichever comes first.  
Commissioner Knieriem suggested that landscaping on Lot 2 should be postponed until 
it’s developed.  Commissioner Markunas said that if the requirement for the landscape 
berm along the west property line were waived, then the entirety of the landscaping along 
the west property line adjacent to the Georgetown subdivision should be installed 
immediately.  He was not as concerned about installing landscaping along the north and 
south property lines.  

Jenny Bulthuis said that she thought that a berm was going to be installed along the west 
property line.  Mike Schwarz noted that the Village’s engineering consultant may view the 
installation of a berm as a challenge for drainage, since there are required overland flow 
routes for drainage as well as existing and new underground utilities.  Chair Schaeffer 
asked if the code requires a berm.  Mike Schwarz replied that a berm was required, but 
could be waived by the PC/ZBA.  Commissioner Markunas said that the landscape berm 
should be installed immediately, without delay.  

Georgetown resident, Joe Feminis, approached the podium. He said that he completely 
backs the overall project, but would like it to be done right.  He said that the previous owner 
of the subject property began installation of the berm but didn’t finish.  He said that when 
there are heavy rains, the backyards of the abutting residential properties flood. In spite of 
this, he would prefer the installation of a berm, as it would help the most for insulation 
from noise and lighting.  He said that his house would be located near the proposed 
dumpster corral and would like as much screening as possible.   

Mr. Feminis asked if the project were approved, whether the Special Use Permits would 
be permanent.  Mike Schwarz responded yes and that any development on the other parcels 
would need to return to the PC/ZBA for approval through a Major Change to a PUD.  

Georgetown resident, Sharon Jackson, approached the podium.  She said that she serves on 
the HOA board.  She asked why the development would occur concurrently.  Mike 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 6 
 

Schwarz responded that the Village ordinance allows for phasing.  She said that she’d 
prefer that landscaping be installed around the entire site instead of a berm.  She noted that 
a sidewalk along Harlem Avenue would be nice, since some people walk to Walgreen’s.  
She asked that if the ground sign were installed as proposed, if it would interfere with the 
future installation of a sidewalk along Harlem Avenue.  Mike Schwarz responded no, 
because the sidewalk would be placed within the right-of-way.  Ms. Jackson said that she 
did not like that the ground sign was slightly oversized and instead it should be reduced to 
meet code.  

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if they wished to further elaborate on the project or 
business model.  Pricella Steinmetz approached the podium and provided a brief 
explanation.  Chair Schaeffer asked about the types of products for sale.  Ms. Steinmetz 
said that products include mostly upscale home goods like furniture and that it would not 
look like a thrift store nor would it sell clothing.   

Mike Schwarz noted that the sign area on the ground sign only would be able to exceed the 
maximum area allowed under the Sign Regulations if an ordinance modification was 
granted as part of the proposed PUD.  Commissioner Markunas said that he did not object 
to a slightly larger ground sign.  Commissioner James said that he’d prefer that all of the 
landscaping along the west property line be installed immediately.  Chair Schaeffer 
expressed that she was not in favor of a berm along the west property line since it may 
negatively impact the existing utilities.  Commissioner Knieriem suggested a compromise, 
perhaps by installing landscaping along the west property line immediately where there are 
gaps in the landscaping. Chair Schaeffer suggested that the installation should be installed 
within 1 year instead of 3 years.  She also noted that a cash-in-lieu donation should be made 
instead of installing the sidewalk along Harlem Avenue.  Commissioner James 
recommended to the applicant that they bring material samples to the future Village Board 
meeting.  Commissioner Morris excused himself at 8:46 pm and arrived back at 8:48 pm.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if any other members of the public wished to speak. There were 
none.   

Motion (#3):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#4):  Recommend to the Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit for 
indoor retail sales of goods, between 5,000 and 10,000 square feet in the B-4 Office 
District, for the subject property located at 21420 S. Harlem Avenue, in accordance with 
the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, conditioned on final 
engineering approval, and additionally subject to the following conditions: 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 7 
 

 
1. The donation drop-off area shall be cleaned at the end of business each day so that no 

items are stored overnight or when the retail store is closed. 
2. Parking lot lights and cupola lights shall be connected to a shutoff timer which 

automatically turns off the lights no later than one hour after the close of business each 
night. 

 
Motion by: Markunas               Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (5-0)  

Motion (#5): Recommend to the Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit for a 
Planned Unit Development in the B-4 Office District, for the subject property located at 
21420 S. Harlem Avenue, with the following Village ordinance modifications/exceptions:  

 
1. Continuation of the existing site-related non-conformities as noted in this staff report.  
2. Reduction of the required minimum setback of a freestanding sign from 25 feet to 10 

feet [Municipal Code Section 151.041(B)(1)(b)]. 
3. Increase of the required maximum area of a freestanding sign for a single-tenant 

commercial building which has a total building size of 0 to 9,999 square feet, from 15 
square feet to 18 square feet [Municipal Code Section 151 .041(h)]. 

4. An exception to allow a waiver of the required multi-use bike path along the frontage 
of the property along Harlem Avenue as generally depicted on Figure 3.2 (Frankfort 
Trail Inventory Map) in the Your Frankfort Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan 
[Article 3, Section F, Part 6(c) of the Zoning Ordinance, and Section 7.2-4 of the Land 
Subdivision Regulations].  Staff is suggesting a condition that would delay the 
construction or cash-in-lieu payment for the path until such time that within one year 
of the adjacent undeveloped property to the north being developed and issued a 
Certificate of Occupancy, that the path or sidewalk shall be installed along the frontage 
of the subject property.   

5. An exception to allow continuation of the non-conforming parking lot light fixture 
height (increase from 20 feet to 25 feet). 

6. A modification to allow delayed installation of the required transition yard landscaping 
along the west and south property lines adjacent to those residential lots which have 
extensive rear yard landscaping that currently provide a visual screen, said delay would 
be for a period of one (1) year from the date of Village Board approval of this Special 
Use Permit or within one (1) year of Village approval of future development on the 
proposed Lot 2, whichever occurs first;   

 
in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, conditioned 
on final engineering approval, and additionally subject to the following conditions: 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 8 
 

 
1. Construction or a cash-in-lieu payment to the Village for the required multi-use bike 

path along the frontage of the property along Harlem Avenue as generally depicted on 
Figure 3.2 (Frankfort Trail Inventory Map) in the Your Frankfort Your Future 2040 
Comprehensive Plan, shall be the responsibility of the property owner at such time that  
within one year of the adjacent undeveloped property to the north (PINs 19-09-24-401-
004-0000 and 19-09-24-401-029-0000) being developed and issued a Certificate of 
Occupancy, that the path or sidewalk shall be installed along the frontage of the subject 
property.   

2. The Landscape Plan shall be revised to comply with the required parking lot screening 
prior to Village Board consideration of this Special Use Permit. 

 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris  

Approved: (4-1, Markunas voted no due to Condition #6)  

Motion (#6):  Recommend to the Village Board approval of the Preliminary and Final 
PUD Development Plan for the subject property located at 21420 S. Harlem Avenue, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, conditioned 
on final engineering approval; and additionally subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Construction or a cash-in-lieu payment to the Village for the required multi-use bike 

path along the frontage of the property along Harlem Avenue as generally depicted on 
Figure 3.2 (Frankfort Trail Inventory Map) in the Your Frankfort Your Future 2040 
Comprehensive Plan, shall be the responsibility of the property owner at such time that  
within one year of the adjacent undeveloped property to the north (PINs 19-09-24-401-
004-0000 and 19-09-24-401-029-0000) being developed and issued a Certificate of 
Occupancy, that the path or sidewalk shall be installed along the frontage of the subject 
property.   

2. The Landscape Plan shall be revised to comply with the required parking lot screening 
prior to Village Board consideration of this Special Use Permit. 

 
Motion by: Markunas          Seconded by: James 

Approved: (5-0)  

Motion (#7):  Recommend to the Village Board approval of the Preliminary and Plat of 
Resubdivision for “The Bridge Re-Subdivision”, for the subject property located at 21420 
S. Harlem Avenue, subject to any necessary technical revisions prior to recording. 
 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (5-0)  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 9 
 

D. Public Hearing: 601 Prestwick Drive – Prestwick Country Club Cart Barn 

Commissioner Markunas recused himself from the meeting and left the Board Room at 
8:55 p.m.  

Chris Gruba presented the staff report. 
 
Steven Weiss, the Project Architect, signed in at the podium.  He summarized the need for 
the four requested variations and presented the proposed exterior materials products board.   
 
Chair Schaeffer asked about the trees that were cut down as shown on the presentation 
photos.  She asked if these trees were located on country club property. 
 
Steven Weiss responded yes that the trees were located on country club property, but they 
were invasive Mulberry trees. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked if these removed trees were located within the footprint of the 
proposed new cart barn or if these were removed for maintenance purposes. 
 
Steven Weiss responded that these trees were removed for maintenance purposes.  He 
added that a Landscape Plan will be submitted to the Village soon for the area around the 
clubhouse. 
 
Commissioner James stated that there is a mess of wood pallets and other materials as 
shown in the presentation photos.  The way that the site looks today is not great.  Please 
keep it clean moving forward. 
 
Steven Weiss stated that there is a small portable shed that is being relocated elsewhere on 
the site.  He admits that this area of the property has not been well maintained. 
 
Commissioner Morris stated that it is an eyesore. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem suggested that maybe the PC/ZBA would condition the variations 
on the cleanup of the site. 
 
Gary Guild approached the podium and stated that he is the House Liaison and a member 
of the Prestwick Country Club.  He stated that the area has been cleaned up this week. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that the site was not clean today when he visited. 
 
Commissioner Morris asked about the timing of the construction. 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 10 
 

Steven Weiss stated that construction of the proposed new cart barn would begin in 
November if the variations were approved by the Village Board.  Seventy new golf carts 
will be delivered by April 1st, 2024.  The clubhouse expansion and renovation will begin 
next winter.  He expects that the project will be completed by mid-2024. 
 
Commissioner James asked if there will be electric golf carts. 
 
Steven Weiss replied yes, these will be new electric golf carts powered by lithium-ion 
batteries. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked where the small portable shed is moving. 
 
Steven Weiss replied that this is a storage shed for range balls and is moving closer to the 
water tower.  The shed is 120 square feet, 10’ x 12’. 
 
Chair Schaeffer reminded Steven Weiss to make sure that the new shed location will allow 
for compliance with the required setbacks per the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Chair Schaeffer stated that the next topic to discuss is the proposed exterior building 
materials.  She would like to see a stone wainscot to tie in with the clubhouse.  She asked 
if the clubhouse expansion will match the existing building. 
 
Steven Weiss replied yes it will match.  He added that the proposed new cart barn frames 
the site, and he doesn’t want it to compete architecturally with the clubhouse but still wants 
it to be consistent with the existing colors.  The design team and applicant looked at stone 
or brick material for the wainscot base, but in his opinion, the cart barn should be more in 
the background.  At some point, the country club has a plan to improve the existing 
clubhouse and add a porte cochère covered entry to the building. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he agrees with Chair Schaeffer.  There should be a 
better material on the wainscot for both aesthetics and durability.  The cart barn needs some 
element to tie it in with the clubhouse. 
 
Commissioner Morris asked Steven Weiss if they are open to brick or stone on the base. 
 
Commissioner James stated that he is okay with Hardie Board® siding.  He asked if golf 
carts hit the side of the building, how will the proposed wainscot material hold up over 
time.   
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 11 
 

Steven Weiss responded that if they did change the wainscot material it would be more of 
a stone or masonry veneer and not actual brick or stone material.  Also, there is a curb to 
stop golf carts from hitting the side of the cart barn.  
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that the PC/ZBA has established a precedent for requiring 
full dimension brick or stone not veneer products. 
 
Steven Weiss replied that if that is the case, they would seek an exterior materials variation.  
They would also need to add a brick ledge around the foundation.   He presented a sample 
of a potential brick fiber cement material for the wainscot base.  He stated that the other 
option would be a Nichiha® brand fiber and cement formed stone veneer material.  Such 
a product would meet the visual requirement. 
 
Chair Schaffer asked staff if exterior building materials are an issue in the E-R Estate 
Residential District. 
 
Chris Gruba replied that there is no definitive exterior materials requirement for accessory 
structures, but it has been Village practice to require that the materials match the primary 
structure. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if they are open to a veneer material 
that looks like stone. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated yes, he could support that.  He asked what the gutters are 
tied into. 
 
Steven Weiss replied that the new gutters will splash on grade onto the parking lot, but that 
the site drains along the west side of the cart barn toward the center of the country club 
property. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked about the drainage impact on the neighboring residential 
property to the west. 
 
Steven Weiss replied that the property to the west is higher in elevation. 
 
Chris Gruba clarified that a minimum of four favorable votes are necessary for a favorable 
recommendation to the Village Board for each of the variation requests. 
 
Steven Weiss stated that he was surprised that only one wall sign would be permitted on 
the golf cart building. 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 12 
 

Chris Gruba explained the allowable signage in the E-R Estate Residential District.  Only 
one wall sign is permitted.  
 
Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any alternatives to the proposed wall signage that better 
reflects the country club than the bagpiper logo. 
 
Steven Weiss responded that his guess is that the country club would leave the walls blank 
rather than install another type of sign. 
 
Commissioner James stated that he has no problem with the proposed bagpiper logo for 
the sign. 
 
Commissioner Morris stated that he has no problem with the proposed bagpiper logo for 
the sign. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he has no problem with the proposed bagpiper logo for 
the sign. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked Steven Weiss if the applicant would be amendable to compliance 
with the Sign Regulations by having only one wall sign.   
 
Steven Weiss replied yes. 
 
Gary Guild, seated in the audience, asked if they could request a second sign later. 
 
Chris Gruba replied yes, which could be part of the future clubhouse addition project, 
processed as a new PUD. 
 
Chair Schaeffer stated that she appreciates the roof dormers but noticed that there are none 
on the west side. 
 
Steven Weiss responded that these were omitted from the west side of the roof on purpose 
to downplay the impact to the neighbor. 
 
Chair Schaeffer stated that if she owned that house, she would prefer to see those roof 
dormers.  She asked other commission members for their thoughts. 
 
Commissioner James stated that additional roof dormers were not needed. 
 
Commissioner Morris stated that additional roof dormers were not needed. 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 13 
 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that additional roof dormers were not needed. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any other questions or comments from the other 
commission members regarding the building elevations.  There were no other questions or 
comments. 
 
Chair Schaeffer stated that the next topic to discuss is trees.  She stated that for the record 
she is in favor of trees that are a minimum of 6 feet in height, planted 15 feet apart. 
 
Steven Weiss responded that rather than planting a row of trees, they would be looking to 
plant natural looking clusters of trees.  He added that definitely there will be some 
landscaping there. 
 
Chris Gruba stated that the PC/ZBA could add a condition that a Landscape Plan be 
provided for staff review prior to Village Board consideration of the four variation requests. 
 
Steven Weiss stated that the applicant could live with a condition that a Landscape Plan be 
submitted to the PC/ZBA within a year. 
 
Commissioner James asked if there will be any exterior lighting on the new cart barn 
building. 
 
Steven Weiss replied that there will be small sconce lights above each door for area 
lighting.  These will be on the north, south and east elevations, but not on the west 
elevation. 
 
Commissioner Morris asked if the bagpiper logo sign would be illuminated. 
 
Steven Weiss replied no. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if the new cart barn building would have a sprinkler system. 
 
Steven Weiss replied yes.  There will be a dry fire suppression system due to the golf carts 
being powered by batteries. 
 
Chair Scaheffer asked if there will be a new water service to the building. 
 
Steven Weiss replied yes, there will be a new 6-inch water service line to serve the building. 
 
Chair Schaeffer explained that cleaning up the site should be added as a condition of 
approval as well as a requirement that the applicant shall within one year of Village Board 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 14 
 

approval submit a Landscape Plan for staff review.  The latter condition would be added 
to the motion for the third Variation listed in the staff report. 
 
Steven Weiss asked staff to display another building rendering that was submitted showing 
a stone wainscot base. 
 
Chris Gruba located the other rendering and displayed it on the video screen and computer 
monitors in the Board Room. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he likes this rendering better as the wainscot better 
matches the clubhouse building. 
 
Commissioner Morris stated that he agrees. 
 
Chair Schaffer stated that she likes the darker stone color per the material sample that was 
distributed earlier in the meeting. 
 
Commissioner James stated that he personally would prefer to steer away from a gray color. 
 
Steven Weiss stated that there is an existing dark brown color on the existing clubhouse 
building between some of the windows, which they could try to match on the wainscot 
base for the new cart barn building. 
 
Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any other questions or comments from the applicant or 
the public before she entertains motions.  There were no other questions or comments. 

Motion (#8):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Knieriem    Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (4-0)   

Motion (#9):  Recommend to the Village Board to approve a variation request for size 
from the permitted 144 square feet to 4,320 square feet per Article 5, Section D, Part 2(b) 
of the Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and 
public testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval. 
 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (4-0)  

Motion (#10):  Recommend to the Village Board to approve a variation request for height 
from the permitted 15’ to 21’ per Article 5, Section D, Part 2(c) of the Zoning Ordinance, 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 15 
 

in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony, conditioned 
on final engineering approval. 
 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (4-0)  

Motion (#11):  Recommend to the Village Board to approve a variation request to permit 
an accessory structure within a front yard, whereas only sides and rear yards are permitted 
per Article 5, Section D, Part 2(a) of the Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony, conditioned on final engineering 
approval, and subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The existing stumps and wood pallets shall be cleared during construction of the 
proposed building. 

2. A Landscape Plan for the area around the cart barn shall be submitted for staff 
review and approval and required plantings shall be installed within one year of 
Village Board approval. 

 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (4-0)  

Motion (#12):  Recommend to the Village Board to approve a variation request to permit 
an accessory structure in front of the primary structure Article 5, Section D, Part 2(a) of 
the Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public 
testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval, and subject to the following 
condition: 
 

1. The building elevations shall be revised to reflect a charcoal color stone veneer 
wainscot on all four sides. 

 
Motion by: James                     Seconded by: Morris 

Approved: (4-0)  

Commissioner Markunas returned to the Board Room at 9:51 p.m.  

E. Workshop: Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment 
 

Chris Gruba presented the staff report. 
 
Chair Schaeffer stated that the 1.7% limitation seems to be the sweet spot.  She added that 
the text cleanups make sense. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 16 
 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the 1.7% limitation fits and will save staff time and 
effort with future variation requests. 
 
Chris Gruba stated that the next step is a public hearing on the proposed text amendments 
prior to Village Board consideration.    
 
Commissioner James stated that the 1,000 square-foot maximum may be too generous. 
Some discussion ensued regarding the dimensions of a hypothetical square accessory 
building which is 1,000 square feet.   
 
After some discussion, it was the consensus of the Commission to modify the proposed 
text amendment to include a maximum of 500 square feet.   

  
F. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

G. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz stated that several items that previously came before the Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals were approved by the Village Board at its meeting 
on October 16th, 2023.  The Preliminary and Final Plat of Re-Subdivision of Lots 2 and 3 
in Iron Gate Estates was approved.  The Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation for 4Ever 
Yoga and Pilates at 83 and 87 Bankview Drive was approved.  

H. Other Business 

There was no other business discussed. 

I. Attendance Confirmation (November 9th, 2023) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.  Commissioner Knieriem and Chair Schaeffer indicated that they are not 
able to attend the next meeting on November 9th.  

Motion (#9): Adjournment 10:13 P.M. 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (5-0). 

Approved November 9th, 2023 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nicole Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



  1 

                                          

Plan Commission / ZBA November 9, 2023 

 
Project: CNC Lawncare, Inc.    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: 2 Special Use Permits (Landscape Company and Outdoor Storage of uncontained bulk 

materials) 
Location: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C (Unit 3 on Plat of Survey) 
Subdivision:  165 Industry Avenue Condos  
Applicant:  Chad Uthe, President of CNC Lawncare, Inc. 
Prop. Owner: AJ Inter Estate, LLC 
Representative: Same as applicant 
Report by: Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 2.52 acres                      Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-34-103-009-1001 (Condo Unit),  
 19-09-34-902-000-0000 (Common Area), 
 19-09-34-100-071-0000 (Storage Area) 
Existing Zoning:  I-2, General Industrial 
Proposed Zoning: I-2 with a Special Use for a Landscape Company 

and a Special Use for Outdoor Storage of 
uncontained bulk materials 

Buildings: 1 building, 2 parcels 
Total Sq. Ft.: 6,500 square feet +/- (tenant space) 

  
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Industrial Business Park I-2 

North Undeveloped/Industrial Business Park I-2 

South  Industrial  Business Park I-2 

East Industrial Business Park I-2 

West  Industrial Business Park I-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant proposes to operate a landscape company with accessory outdoor storage of uncontained bulk 
materials at 165 Industry Avenue. The property at 165 Industry Avenue is subdivided into three different 
condominium units within the principal structure and includes a common area around the principal structure. The 
applicant would locate his operations in Unit C (Unit 3 on the Plat of Survey) and would have access to the 
common area around the building. The applicant is proposing outdoor storage on a separate parcel of land 
immediately adjacent to the north, which is under the same ownership.  The PC/ZBA discussed this application at a 
workshop on April 20, 2023 and at the initial public hearing on October 26, 2023 (see attached minutes).  
 

Attachments 
1. 2022 Aerial Photo from Will County GIS  
2. Plat of Survey of all subject parcels, dated 8.21.14, received 1.12.23 

 



  2 

3. Topographic Survey of all subject parcels, dated 6.1.21, received 1.19.23 
4. Site Plan (“Yard Sketch”) for all subject parcels, dated 9.27.23, received 9.27.23 
5. Mesh Screening Image submitted by applicant, received 7.19.23  
6. Special Use Findings of Fact prepared by applicant 
7. Site Photos taken on 04.20.23 
8. Site Photos taken on 11.2.23  
9. Approved Minutes of the 4.27.23 PC/ZBA Meeting 
10. Draft Minutes of the 10.26.23 PC/ZBA Meeting 
11. Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Proposed Uses 

1. Landscape companies and outdoor storage of uncontained bulk materials are both permitted as special 
uses in the I-2, General Industrial District.  
 

2. Per the Zoning Ordinance, all outdoor storage facilities must comply with the setback requirements and 
bulk regulations of the I-2 District. All outdoor storage areas shall also be located on a paved surface unless 
the storage area is located in the rear yard and behind the rear façade of the primary structure and is 
enclosed by a fence. There is currently no fencing around the uncontained bulk materials located on site.  
 

3. Based on early conversations with the applicant, staff was informed that the proposed outdoor storage will 
be located on the north side of the property on a separate parcel, behind the front façade of the building 
at 165 Industry Avenue.  According to the submitted Plat of Survey and Site Plan (“Yard Sketch”), the 
outdoor storage is located on the northmost portion of Parcel 1.  
 

4. During the initial site visit that staff conducted on April 20, 2023, staff observed a CNC Lawncare sign 
applied to the inside of a window in Unit C.  A CNC Lawncare pickup truck was also parked on the site.  
Subsequent site visits have confirmed that the business is currently operating from the site.  Finally, staff 
notes that the CNC Lawncare website reflects a business address of 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C.  Although 
a Business License was applied for, it has not yet been issued pending the outcome of the subject Special 
Use Permits application.  

 
Parcel Layout, the Zoning Ordinance, and the Subdivision Ordinance 
 

1. The Special Use Permit requests involve two parcels of land (Parcel 1, which includes Units 1, 2 and 3 in 165 
Industry Avenue Condominium, on Lot 3 in Empire’s Subdivision; and Parcel 2 which is an unsubdivded 
property that may at one time have been part of the property located at 1000 and 1018 Lambrecht Road to 
the east.  Staff researched and discovered that the PIN for this parcel was assigned in October 1992. The 
underlying land was annexed into the Village of Frankfort prior to 1974, which means that the land would 
have been subject to the 1976 Subdivision Regulations. Parcels 1 and 2 are currently under the same 
ownership but are separate tax parcels.  
 

2. The proposed landscape business would operate out of Unit C (Unit 3 on the Plat of Survey) which is a 
condominium unit (the PIN ending 009-1001 on Parcel 1) and is considered the principal use of that unit on 
the property.  Meanwhile, the proposed outdoor storage would be located on the northern portion of 
Parcel 1 (PIN 19-09-34-902-000-0000) which is the common area of the overall subject property and would 
be accessory to the landscape company use.  Per the Zoning Ordinance, accessory uses and structures must 
be “in connection with” a principal use which is permitted within such district.  
 



  3 

3. The applicant has permission from the property owner to use both the condominium unit and the northern 
plot of land to operate his business.  However, if a strict interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance was 
applied, the proposed outdoor storage would not be permitted on the northern parcel, as it is not 
associated with a principal use on that same northern parcel.  Article 5, Section D, Part 1(d) of the Zoning 
Ordinance states, “Accessory uses and structures must be in connection with a principal use which is 
permitted within such district.” However, one could interpret the phrase “in connection with” in a different 
way, such that the accessory use is physically adjacent to the principal use. 
 

4. Article 5, Section D, Part 1(b) of the Zoning Ordinance states, “Accessory uses and structures, as defined in 
Article 12, in the B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, O-R, I-1, I-2 and H-1 when the property is not used for single-family 
residential, must be approved during the site plan review process (as described in Article 3, Section H).”  
 

5. The parcel to the north also does not meet the requirements of the Subdivision Regulations (Ord. 921). 
Section 9.5-5 states that “[e]very lot shall front on or abut a public street. Lots with access only to private 
drives or streets shall be permitted only with the approval of the Planning Commission.” Today, the only 
way to access the parcel to the north is by driving through the common area of the condominiums to the 
south. However, since the two parcels of land are separate tax parcels, it is possible that they may be held 
by different property owners at some point in the future. In that case, any potential future owner of the 
parcel to the north would not have frontage for direct access onto a public street. 
 

6. Staff has identified several options for the Plan Commission to consider to rectify the above situation.  
 

o One option (preferable) is for the property owner to consolidate both Parcels 1 and 2 via a Plat of 
Resubdivision, and amend the condominium documents, so that the northern parcel is brought 
into compliance with the Subdivision Ordinance. This option would also address the provision 
stated in the Zoning Ordinance relating to principal and accessory uses being in connection with 
one another. 
 

o Another option may be to require the recording of a cross access easement, in which the owner 
of the condominium property (Parcel 1) grants the owner of parcel to the north (Parcel 2) access 
to Industry Avenue. This option would require the approval of the Plan Commission per Section 
9.5-5 of the Subdivision Regulations which states “Every lot shall front on or abut a public street. 
Lots with access only to private drives or streets shall be permitted only with the approval of the 
Planning Commission.”  However, this option would not resolve the Zoning Ordinance issue.  
There is also some uncertainty regarding the legality of granting an easement to oneself. 
 

7. Staff previously communicated with the property owner and his attorney about these options.  At the 
time of writing, the property owner has not indicated how he wishes to proceed in addressing the 
situation in order for the proposed landscape company to proceed through the Special Use process.  Staff 
is suggesting that the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals should address this issue with a condition 
that would stipulate that the property owner shall consolidate the parcels within one year of Village 
Board approval of the Special Use Permit for a Landscape Business.   
 

8. Based on available aerial photographs, it appears that there is a driveway on the north end of 1000 and 
1018 Lambrecht Road that runs westward to Parcel 2.  The subject property owner has suggested that the 
proposed tenant (CNC Lawncare, Inc.) could use that driveway to access the proposed outdoor storage 
area.  Staff has confirmed that there is an existing recorded ingress and egress easement located in the 
northeastern corner of the northern parcel which was recorded in 1998 as depicted on the submitted Plat 



  4 

of Survey.  The eastern half of the driveway which is located within that easement (the half which directly 
connects to Lambrecht Road and runs along 1018 Lambrecht) is paved, while the western half (which 
connects to Parcel 2) is gravel.  As seen on the aerial photo and the site photos, the driveway narrows to a 
single travel lane over a culvert as it crosses onto the subject property. 

 
Standards for Special Uses 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 
 

Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use(s) (for a Landscape Business and 
for the outdoor storage of uncontained bulk materials) will not be detrimental to, or endanger, the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 
2. That the special use(s) (for a Landscape Business and for the outdoor storage of uncontained bulk 

materials) will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use(s) (for a Landscape Business and for the outdoor storage of 

uncontained bulk materials) will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement 
of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  

 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 



  5 

applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use(s) (for a Landscape Business and for the outdoor storage of uncontained bulk 

materials) shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motions   
 
For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motions: 
 

1. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for a Landscape Business 
for the property located at 165 Industry Avenue, Unit 3 (PINs: 19-09-34-103-009-1001, 19-09-34-902-000-
0000, 19-09-34-100-071-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of 
Fact, subject to the following condition(s): 
 
1. Within one year of the date of Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit for a Landscape 

Business, the property owner shall record a Plat of Resubdivision to consolidate Parcels 1 and 2, and 
shall amend the existing condominium documents and record amended condominium documents as 
may be legally necessary, so that the northern parcel is brought into compliance with the Subdivision 
Ordinance (by achieving frontage on a public right-of-way) and the proposed accessory use for 
outdoor storage of uncontained bulk materials is thereby brought into compliance with the Zoning 
Ordinance (by achieving a location on the same parcel and in connection with the principal use of a 
landscape business); Non-compliance with this condition may result in fees and penalties pursuant to 
Article 11, Section A of the Zoning Ordinance; and  
 

2. Any and all vehicles associated with the landscape business, including customer vehicles, employee 
personal vehicles, trucks, and trailers shall be parked on an approved paved surface; and 

 
3. Semi-trailers, shipping containers or other similar storage containers are prohibited for storage; and 
 
4. Any and all dirt and other debris on the paved surfaces of Parcels 1 and 2 and/or on any portion of 

the public street, shall be swept clean on a daily basis; and 
 
5. Any and all existing outdoor storage materials, equipment, and vehicles on Parcel 2 (PIN 19-09-34-

100-071-0000) that are not in accordance with the submitted Site Plan (“Yard Plan” dated September 
27, 2023) shall be removed from said parcel within 60 days of the date of Village Board approval of a 
Special Use Permit for a Landscape Business; and 

 
6. The property owner or owner of the landscape business shall submit a Grading Plan for Parcel 2 (PIN 

19-09-34-100-071-0000), within 60 days of the date of Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit 
for a Landscape Business, with said Grading Plan to be reviewed by the Village Engineer; Following 
approval of the Grading Plan, all dirt ground surfaces shall be planted with grass seed or installed with 



  6 

sod within 6 months of the date of Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit for a Landscape 
Business. 

 
2. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for Outdoor Storage of 

uncontained bulk materials, in the I-2 General Industrial District, for the property located at 165 Industry 
Avenue, Unit 3 (PINs: 19-09-34-103-009-1001, 19-09-34-902-000-0000, 19-09-34-100-071-0000), in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the following 
condition(s): 

 
1. If and when the property owner desires to transfer ownership of Parcel 2 (PIN 19-09-34-100-071-

0000), if such transfer is done prior to any consolidation of Parcels 1 and 2, the Special Use Permit for 
outdoor storage of uncontained bulk materials shall become null and void on any portion of Parcel 2 
(PIN 19-09-34-100-071-0000); and 
 

2. Bulk materials stored on site may not exceed the fence height and/or shall be completely screened 
from the public right-of-way and adjacent properties; and 

 
3. Semi-trailers, shipping containers or other similar storage containers are prohibited for storage; and 
 
4. Any and all dirt and other debris on the paved surfaces of Parcels 1 and 2 and/or on any portion of 

the public street, shall be swept clean on a daily basis; and 
 

5. Any and all existing outdoor storage materials, equipment, and vehicles on Parcel 2 (PIN 19-09-34-
100-071-0000) that are not in accordance with the submitted Site Plan (“Yard Plan” dated September 
27, 2023) shall be removed from said parcel within 60 days of the date of Village Board approval of a 
Special Use Permit for Outdoor Storage of uncontained bulk materials; and 

 
6. The property owner or owner of the landscape business shall submit a Grading Plan for Parcel 2 (PIN 

19-09-34-100-071-0000), within 60 days of the date of Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit 
for a Landscape Business, with said Grading Plan to be reviewed by the Village Engineer; Following 
approval of the Grading Plan, any and all dirt ground surfaces shall be planted with grass seed or 
installed with sod within 6 months of the date of Village Board approval of a Special Use Permit for 
Outdoor Storage of uncontained bulk materials.   
 

 
 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

165 Industry Avenue

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

10/18/2023 Date:

0.04

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships



aduffin
Received



aduffin
Received



mschwarz
Received



aduffin
Received





 

Unit 3 of 165 Industry Avenue Condominiums 

 

The north end of Parcel 1 and all of Parcel 2 



 

Northwest Corner of Parcel 1 

 

Driveway from 1000 and 1018 Lambrecht Road to Parcel 2 



 

North end of Parcel 2, facing west 

 

West side of Parcel 2 and NWC of Parcel 1 



 

North end of Parcel 2, facing south 

 

Units 1 and 2 



Site Photos – 165 Industry Avenue – 11/2/23 

 
Figure 1: Subject property, viewed looking north from paved parking lot. 

Figure 2:  Subject property, viewed looking north from paved parking lot. 

 

 

 

 



 

Figure 3:  Subject property, viewed looking north from paved parking lot. 

Figure 4:  Subject property, viewed looking northwest from paved parking lot. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Figure 5:  Subject property, viewed looking northwest from paved parking lot. 

 

 

Figure 6:  Subject property, viewed looking west from southern portion of Parcel 2. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Figure 7:  Pallet racking on north side of building, viewed looking west from northern portion of Parcel 1. 

Figure 8:  Pallet racking on north side of building, viewed looking west from northern portion of Parcel 1. 

 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 3 

 

 

Motion by: James  Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (6-0) 

Chair Rigoni said that this case would be brought to the Village Board on May 1st.  

D. Workshop: 20500 S. La Grange Road – Sage Salon 

Drew Duffin presented the staff report. 

The applicant, Talitha Henison, approached the stand. She said that the salon would have 

no more than three stylists. She planned to use the office to manage the administrative 

needs of the business. Her salon offered hair cutting services, nothing out of the ordinary.  

Commission Knieriem stated that he had no comments, and that the application seemed 

straight forward to him. 

Commissioner Markunas said that he had spoken with another business owner who 

operated in the same building. They had observed that the parking lot could get busy 

there on Fridays and on weekends. He believed that it was a result of spillover parking 

from the restaurant to the south. He asked if the applicant owned any other businesses.  

The applicant said that she did, a salon in Mokena and another in Tinley Park. They 

operated under the same name.  

Commissioner Markunas asked when the salon would open.  

The applicant said she would open as soon as she was allowed. 

Commissioner James asked who the previous occupant of the tenant space was. 

Drew Duffin said he was not sure.  

The applicant stated she was also unsure.  

Chair Rigoni said she had no questions.  

Commissioner James stated that it was common for dental offices to skew the parking 

requirements for a site. He noted that the subject property never seemed to have a lot of 

cars. He suggested that it might be worth looking at the code requirement and possibly 

reducing it in the future. 

E. Workshop: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit 3 – CNC Lawncare 

Drew Duffin presented the staff report. 

mschwarz
Highlight



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 4 

 

The applicant, Chad Uthe, approached the stand. He explained that his business Provided 

landscaping services for Homeowner’s Associations, as well as full landscape 

architecture and construction services. 

Commissioner Markunas asked how long the applicant had been in business.   

The applicant stated that it was their 24th season.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the business was currently operating in the unit under 

consideration.  

The applicant said that they were.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant was currently using the other parcel for 

storing material.  

The applicant said that he was. He added that the properties were owned by a different 

landlord when he had first moved in. They were using the northern portion of the 

property now for outdoor storage. Specifically, they used it to store miscellaneous 

materials which would come and go frequently.  

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if he accessed the site off of Industry 

Avenue. 

The applicant said that he did, and that employees would park on east side of the 

property.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant ever used the driveway on the northeast 

corner of the subject property. 

The applicant said that they do, but only rarely.  

Commissioner James said that the proposed use was consistent with other businesses in 

the area. One of the subject parcels was currently an island, and he thought that a Plat of 

Resubdivision would make the most sense in order to connect the two subject properties 

together. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked the applicant to give more detail about what materials 

were stored in the rear of the property.  

The applicant explained that they stored miscellaneous aggregates, brick, stone, and 

palletized materials on the northern end of the property. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if he meant bulk gravel when he mentioned aggregates. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 5 

 

The applicant said that he did not, and that those materials were stored on the southern 

end of the property. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if they stored any chemicals on site. 

The applicant said they did not store chemicals.  

Commissioner Jakubowski said that the property owner should combine the lots, and that 

she had no other comments. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant would plant any trees or live material on 

the property. 

The applicant explained that they ordered plant material as they need it. Nothing was 

stored for more than a week. There would be no trees planted or small plant nursery.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was the property owner.  

The applicant said he was not, but that the property owner was in the audience. The 

applicant had been at this location for two years. The previous occupant was a lawn and 

irrigation company, who had made the set up in the back with storage.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the applicant was currently operating at the subject property now 

and was only asking for the Special Use Permits at this time.  

Drew Duffin said that that was the case. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the applicant was operating illegally as a result.  

Drew Duffin said yes.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the applicant had a Business License.  

Drew Duffin said that he was not aware of an issued Business License. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the applicant was already operating their business with outdoor 

storage.   

Drew Duffin said that was correct.  

The applicant explained that he moved into the current space during COVID, and that it 

was a chaotic time. He said that it should have been taken care of then. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there was material being stored on the north side of the property. 

Drew Duffin said there was.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 6 

 

Chair Rigoni said that she had gone out to the site, and that the improvements that were 

there were not typical of what one would see in Frankfort. It looked as though there was a 

lot of dumping going on the back. Moving forward, she wanted to know what material 

would be stored on-site, and where.  

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that, with respect to outdoor storage, fencing was usually 

required. She asked if this was this the same in this case. 

Mike Schwarz said that outdoor storage had to be screened, even in the I-2 district. 

Storing uncontained bulk materials would require a Special Use Permit.  

Chair Rigoni asked what Special Use Permits were required for the current case.  

Mike Schwarz stated that there were two issues. One issue was that there was some bulk 

material being stored where the building sat. The other issue was that there were two 

separate parcels, one with a principal use and one with an accessory use. The accessory 

use was technically not in connection with the main parcel. Staff believed that the 

property owner was unwilling to consolidate the two parcels.  

Chair Rigoni said that, in terms of screening, the current proposal could get out of hand, 

since there was no defined area showing where material would be stored. Designating a 

fenced-in storage area would work to contain the stored material. She asked how big the 

northern parcel was. She said that she was hesitant to approve a blanket Special Use 

Permit for the entire parcel, and suggested that maybe the storage area should be 

specified on a plan. She added that there was a clause in the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance which talked about adjacent non-conforming lots. She wanted to make sure 

that the Special Use Permit for Uncontained Bulk Materials was clear about where 

material would be stored. 

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if he had applied for business license.  

The applicant said that he had.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if that was what prompted the workshop. 

The applicant said that it was.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any other businesses on the southern lot storing 

materials. 

The applicant said that there were none. 

Mike Schwarz noted that if the applicant was storing uncontained bulk material, then a  

Special Use Permit would be required.   



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 7 

 

Chair Rigoni asked how much extra room would be needed on the northern parcel for 

outdoor storage. She asked if there was a plan that showed the storage area. 

Drew Duffin said that he had received no such plan.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the applicant could screen every side of the storage area 

that needed to be screened other than where the area would be accessed from.  

Commissioner Markunas noted that it was hard to see the storage area from the south, 

east, and west.  

Commissioner Knieriem said that he believed the Plan Commission would be 

overburdening the applicant if they required him to put a fence up against the building. 

He also asked if the large pile of material shown in the site photos was compost. 

The applicant said that it was, and that that material came and went.  

Commissioner Knieriem added that it looked as though there was a berm on the north end 

of the property. He asked the applicant if they were taking material off the property.  

The applicant said that they would not be chancing the grading of property.  

Chair Rigoni said that her concerns were not so much related to the use, but more about 

defining where storage would be and how it would be contained.  

Commissioner Knieriem observed that the property to the north of the subject property 

was a retention area and therefore non-buildable.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if there was a concern with stormwater and drainage in 

the storage area. 

Mike Schwarz noted that the storage area would need to be paved.  

The applicant noted that he would prefer to move the pallets rather than pave the outdoor 

storage area.  

Commissioner Markunas asked that the applicant please define where the outdoor storage 

area would be located for next time.  

Commissioner Schaeffer said the applicant should work with staff to make sure the 

storage area met code and the parameters of the Special Use Permit. 

Chair Rigoni also suggested that a condition be added to a future motion that no 

chemicals or fertilizers were to be stored on-site.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 4/27/23 | Page 8 

 

Mike Schwarz said that staff was looking for direction on how to address the situation of 

the two separate parcels. Staff recommended consolidating the properties, but the 

property owner was not willing to consolidate. He added that it would take time to get 

Plat of Consolidation drafted and approved. 

Chair Rigoni said that consolidation would be the best path forward, and suggested that 

the Plat of Consolidation be completed and approved within some amount of time after 

the Special Use Permits were approved. 

F. Workshop: 10043 W. Lincoln Highway – Action Behavior Centers 

Drew Duffin gave the staff report. 

The applicant, Jacquelyn Fara, approached the stand. She explained that Action Behavior 

Centers offered intensive, one-on-one therapy, as well as testing and assessment for 

children with autism. They wanted to provide an outdoor space that was also a safe 

environment for their clients where they could work on gross motor skills, such as 

kicking balls. Their goal as an organization was to get all kids back into the school 

setting.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked staff to clarify which parking spaces the applicant was 

proposing to remove. He asked if the proposed outdoor space would be used in the 

winter.  

The applicant explained that the temperature would need to be to be over 50 degrees for 

the children to go outdoors. The reason they were planning to cover all five parking 

spaces was to prevent someone from parking alongside the play space, which would pose 

a safety risk. The applicant added that they were proposing a faux wrought iron fence to 

match what was used by KinderCare. They could also do a privacy fence if that was 

preferable.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the proposed fence would be mounted into the ground.  

The applicant said that it would be. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if Action Behavior Centers owned the building. 

The applicant said they did not. 

Commissioner Knieriem observed that the exterior of the building had quite a bit of 

damage. 

The applicant said they were working with the landlord to resolve that.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        October 26, 2023 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Will Markunas, Dan Knieriem, Brian 
James, Johnny Morris 

Commissioners Absent: David Hogan, Jessica Jakubowski 

Staff Present: Planning & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Senior Planner Christopher Gruba  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from October 12th, 2023 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.  There were none.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from October 12th, 2023, as presented. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

B. Public Hearing: 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C (Unit 3 on Plat of Survey) – CNC 
Lawncare  

Chair Schaeffer asked any members of the audience wishing to speak on public hearing 
items this evening to raise their right hands.  She swore in members of the audience. 

Chair Schaeffer read the agenda for 165 Industry Avenue, Unit C – CNC Lawncare. 

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if they wished to add anything.  The applicant, Chad 
Uthe, said he did not.  

mschwarz
Highlight



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 2 
 

Commissioner James asked the applicant if he was currently operating the business and if 
so, for how long.  Mr. Uthe replied that he has been operating the business on the property 
since about August 2020.  

Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission if the proposed uses were reasonable.  She noted 
that the outside needs to be tidied up.   

Commissioner Markunas asked whether the concrete storage bins would be relocated to 
where they are illustrated on the plans.  Mr. Uthe responded yes.  Commissioner Markunas 
asked if there would be no other storage of materials on the property. Mr. Uthe responded 
that that was correct.  Commissioner Markunas asked how the land around the storage bins 
would be graded.  Mr. Uthe replied that there would be compacted stone.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if the owner of the property was present.  Mr. 
Uthe responded that he was not.  Commissioner Knieriem said that he was surprised by 
that because a lot of the discussion and requests would largely affect him as the owner.  
Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if the owner was aware of the meeting.  Mr. 
Uthe responded that he didn’t think that the owner was informed.  Mr. Uthe said that the 
owner was not opposed to combining the two parcels as proposed.  Commissioner 
Knieriem asked the applicant if he brought potential clients to the property.  Mr. Uthe 
replied no.  Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was proud of the appearance 
of the property.  Mr. Uthe responded that he was not, but that he is in the process of cleaning 
up the property.  Commissioner Knieriem said that since the business has been operating 
for three years that that was a lot of time to make progress on the cleanup.  He noted that 
there are cars on the property that don’t have windows or wheels.  Mr. Uthe responded that 
he does not own those cars, but that he will get them removed.  Commissioner Knieriem 
asked who owns the vehicles.  Mr. Uthe responded that it was someone that he knows.  
Commissioner Knieriem said that the appearance of the property has gotten worse since 
the last time the project came before the PC/ZBA and that it doesn’t meet Frankfort’s 
standards.  Commissioner Knieriem asked about water and drainage on the site.  He noted 
that dirt is being moved on the site and asked if the applicant was trying to expand the size 
of the lot.  Mr. Uthe responded that they brought in piles of aggregate in order to prevent 
water from reaching the culverts.  Commissioner Knieriem asked if the drains weren’t 
working.  Mr. Uthe replied that the existing piles of aggregate were not allowing water to 
move.   

Commissioner Markunas asked who would be responsible for improving the property. Mr. 
Uthe said the he would be responsible, not the owner.  Commissioner Markunas asked the 
applicant if he was coordinating the lot consolidation as well.  Mr. Uthe said that the owner 
would be handling the lot consolidation.   

Mr. Morris said that he would have wanted the owner to be present at the public hearing.  
Commissioner James agreed and added that support from the owner will be imperative 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/26/23 | Page 3 
 

once the project reaches the Village Board.  He suggested tabling the public hearing until 
a later date when the owner could attend.  

Chair Schaeffer said that the conditions of approval are predicated on whether the owner 
will consolidate the parcels and that it would be best to consolidate the parcels. Otherwise, 
if the parcels change ownership in the future, the parcel with road frontage could restrict 
access to the parcel without frontage.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if the applicant was granted a business license.  Mike Schwarz 
replied no.  Mr. Uthe said that he had applied for a business license.  Mike Schwarz added 
that if the property were granted a Special Use Permit, that it would run with the land, even 
if the property ownership changed hands, as long as the property were operated in about 
the same way.  

Chair Schaeffer said that requesting that the business operations be tidy was not an 
unreasonable request and that they should consider paving the site.  Commissioner 
Markunas said that any junk vehicles should be removed as soon as possible.  He added 
that it would be difficult to vote on the public hearing requests without the owner present. 
Chair Schaeffer recommended that the applicant elect to table the public hearing until a 
future meeting when the owner could be present, but that this decision to table was his.  
Mr. Uthe requested that the public hearing be tabled until November 9th.  

Adjacent property owner, Ron Kirsch, approached the podium.  He said that he owns the 
building to the west at 155 Industry.  He said that he’s witnessed the property change and 
change ownership since 1977.  He noted that there are concrete blocks that have been 
pushed over, which are a safety hazard.  He said that the fence is damaged between the 
subject property and the mini-storage warehouse property, which should be removed and 
replaced.  He said that burning of materials also occasionally happens on the subject 
property, and odors and smoke sometimes blow onto his property.  He had asked the 
manager of the property to cease burning materials on site, but their response was that 
burning occurs after business hours or on weekends.  He said that the gutters are coming 
off the roof of the subject property and that he would like to see proper stormwater drainage 
because it does lead to occasional flooding on his property.  

Motion (#2):  To keep open and continue the public hearing until November 9th, 2023. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

C. Public Hearing: 21420 S. Harlem Avenue – Thrift Home & Restoration (The Bridge 
Teen Center)  
 
Mike Schwarz presented the staff report.  



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                          November 9, 2023 

 
Project: Will County Case ZC-23-073 (S-23-049) 
Meeting Type:  1.5-Mile Extraterritorial Review  
Requests: Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility 
Purpose:         To permit a commercial solar energy property on the property 
Location: South side of Stuenkel Road, approximately ¼ mile east of 88th Avenue 
Applicant:  Akshar Patel, Stuenkel Solar Farm I, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Hsing Chen 
Consultants:   William Stefek, PLS    
Representative: Josh Nathan, Cleantech Law Partners    
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 45 acres                                                                        Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 18-13-11-100-005-0000  
Annexation: Not applicable 
Existing Zoning:  Will County A-1 Agricultural District 
Prop.  Zoning: Will County A-1 with a Special-Use Permit for a 

commercial solar energy facility 
Building(s) / Lot(s): 0 buildings / 1 tax parcel 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Agriculture  Single-Family 
Residential 

Will 
County 

A-1/ 
E-2 

North  Rural Residential 
 

Single-Family 
Residential 

 

Will 
County 
A-1/E-

2 
South  Agriculture  Single-Family 

Residential  
   Will 
County 
    A-1 

East Agriculture  Single-Family 
Residential 

Will 
County 

A-1 
West Agriculture Single-Family 

Residential 
Will 

County 
A-1 

 
Project Summary  
 
Akshar Patel, representing Stuenkel Solar Farm I, LLC, is the applicant for a proposed commercial solar energy facility 
located on approximately 45 acres of cropped farmland in unincorporated property located on the south side of 
Stuenkel Road, approximately ¼ mile east of 88th Avenue (PIN 18-13-11-100-005-0000).  The subject property is 
currently zoned A-1 Agricultural District in Will County.   
 
As the subject property is located within the Village's 1.5-mile extraterritorial jurisdiction (approximately ¼ mile and 
two tax parcels away from the Village’s municipal boundary), the Village may comment on the proposed Special Use 
Permit application.  The recommendation of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals will be forwarded to the 
Village Board, which in turn may make a recommendation to Will County for consideration. 



2 

Attachments 
1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS  
2. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS (close-up) 
3. Site Photos taken by staff 11.2.23  
4. Will County Application 
5. Project Narrative 
6. Legal Description 
7. Plat of Survey 
8. Proposed Plans (including Title Sheet with Site Information and Location Map, Existing Conditions, 

General Layout, and Construction Details) 
9. Your Frankfort / Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (Excerpt) 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The proposed Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility is not consistent with the Village of 
Frankfort's 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map which identifies the subject property and the 
surrounding properties for future single-family residential use. 
 

• Per the Will County Geographic Information System (GIS), the northwestern corner of the property contains 
a small, mapped wetland area. 
 

• The submitted plans indicate that a 5-megawatt solar energy facility is proposed.  Approximately 13,636 
modules (solar panels) are proposed.  The modules would be mounted on a fixed-tilt racking system.  At 
their full tilt, the height of the modules would be no more than 20 feet in height. 
 

• The perimeter of the facility would be enclosed with an 8-inch “fixed knot farm fence”.  Staff notes that this 
type of fence may provide some measure of access control but does not provide any visual screening.  The 
submitted plans indicate a proposed vegetation buffer located along Stuenkel Road, 15 feet inside the 
property line and along the first 300 feet of the east property line.     

 
AFFIRMATIVE MOTION(S) 
 
Recommend the Village Board object/ not object to the proposed Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy 
facility on the unincorporated property located on the south side of Stuenkel Road, approximately ¼ mile east of 
88th Avenue (PIN 18-13-11-100-005-0000).   
 
 
 
 

 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.57

1: 18,056

0 Miles

Will County Case ZC-23-073 (S-23-049)

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

10/31/2023 Date:

0.28

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Surrounding Counties

Townships

Flood Hazard Area

1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Area of Minimal Flood Hazard

Area with Reduced Risk Due to Levee

Wetlands

Lacustrine

Palustrine

Riverine

Upland

Municipalities

City of Aurora

Village of Beecher

Village of Bolingbrook

Village of Braceville

City of Braidwood

Village of Channahon

Village of Coal City

City of Crest Hill

Village of Crete

Village of Diamond

Village of Elwood

Village of Frankfort

Village of Godley

Village of Homer Glen

City of Joliet

Village of Lemont

City of Lockport

Village of Manhattan

Village of Minooka

Village of Mokena

Village of Monee

City of Naperville

Village of New Lenox

Village of Orland Park

Village of Park Forest



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.28

1: 9,028

0 Miles

Will County Case ZC-23-073 (S-23-049)

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

10/31/2023 Date:

0.14

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships

Flood Hazard Area

1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard

Area of Minimal Flood Hazard

Area with Reduced Risk Due to Levee

Wetlands

Lacustrine

Palustrine

Riverine

Upland

Municipalities

City of Aurora

Village of Beecher

Village of Bolingbrook

Village of Braceville

City of Braidwood

Village of Channahon

Village of Coal City

City of Crest Hill

Village of Crete

Village of Diamond

Village of Elwood

Village of Frankfort

Village of Godley

Village of Homer Glen

City of Joliet

Village of Lemont

City of Lockport

Village of Manhattan

Village of Minooka

Village of Mokena

Village of Monee

City of Naperville

Village of New Lenox

Village of Orland Park

Village of Park Forest

Village of Peotone



Site Photos – Will County Case ZC-23-073 

 

 

Figure 1: Subject property, viewed looking south from Stuenkel Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   









mschwarz
Received

















www. Suryapowered.com

Legal Description

Parcel #18-13-100-005-0000

THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 34 NORTH, RANGE 12 
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE 
NORTHEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE NORTH 89-25-09 WEST ALONG 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 471.78 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING: THENCE SOUTH 00’-43’-40’ WEST ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST 471.78 
FEET TO THE SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; A DISTANCE OF 2653.52 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE 
OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER: THENCE NORTH 89’-19’-57’ WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A 
DISTANCE OF 738.87 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00’-43’-40’ EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2652.41 FEET TO 
THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 69’-25-09’ EAST ALONG 
SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 738.57 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



















1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                          November 9, 2023 

 
Project: Will County Case ZC-23-091 (S-23-054) 
Meeting Type:  1.5-Mile Extraterritorial Review  
Requests: Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility 
Purpose:         To permit a commercial solar energy property on the property 
Location: Southwest corner of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road 
Applicant:  Akshar Patel, Kuse Solar Farm, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Daniel B. Light 
Consultants:   William Stefek, PLS    
Representative: Josh Nathan, Cleantech Law Partners    
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 71.64 acres                                                                        Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 18-13-05-400-012-0000     
Annexation: Not applicable 
Existing Zoning:  Will County A-1 Agricultural District 
Prop.  Zoning: Will County A-1 with a Special-Use Permit for a 

commercial solar energy facility 
Building(s) / Lot(s): 0 buildings / 1 tax parcel 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Agriculture  Single-Family 
Residential 

Will 
County 

A-1 
North  Agriculture 

 
Single-Family 
Residential 

 

Will 
County 

A-1 
South  Rural Residential  Rural Residential  Will 

County 
A-1 / 
A-2 

East Agriculture  Rural Residential Will 
County 

A-1 
West Agriculture Single-Family 

Residential 
Will 

County 
A-1 

 
Project Summary  
 
Akshar Patel, representing Kuse Solar Farm, LLC, is the applicant for a proposed commercial solar energy facility 
located on approximately 71.64 acres of cropped farmland in unincorporated property located at the southwest 
corner of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road (PIN 18-13-05-400-012-0000).  The subject property is divided by the 
Commonwealth Edison regional electricity transmission lines.  The subject property is currently zoned A-1 
Agricultural District in Will County.   
 
As the subject property is located within the Village's 1.5-mile extraterritorial jurisdiction (approximately ¼ mile and 
two tax parcels away from the Village’s municipal boundary), the Village may comment on the proposed Special Use 
Permit application.  The recommendation of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals will be forwarded to the 
Village Board, which in turn may make a recommendation to Will County for consideration. 



2 

Attachments 
1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS  
2. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS (close-up) 
3. Site Photos taken by staff 11.2.23  
4. Will County Application 
5. Project Narrative 
6. Legal Description 
7. Plat of Survey 
8. Proposed Plans (including Title Sheet with Site Information and Location Map, Existing Conditions, 

General Layout, and Construction Details) 
9. Your Frankfort / Your Future 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (Excerpt) 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The proposed Special Use Permit for a commercial solar energy facility is not consistent with the Village of 
Frankfort's 2040 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map which identifies the subject property and the 
surrounding properties for future single-family residential and rural residential use. 
 

• The submitted plans indicate that a 5-megawatt solar energy facility is proposed.  Approximately 13,642 
modules (solar panels) are proposed.  The modules would be mounted on a fixed-tilt racking system.  At 
their full tilt, the height of the modules would be no more than 20 feet in height. 
 

• The perimeter of the facility would be enclosed with an “8-inch fixed knot farm fence”.  Staff notes that this 
type of fence may provide some measure of access control but does not provide any visual screening.  The 
submitted plans do not indicate any proposed vegetation buffers along the property lines.     

 
AFFIRMATIVE MOTION(S) 
 
Recommend the Village Board object/ not object to the proposed Special-Use Permit for a commercial solar energy 
facility on the unincorporated property located at the southwest corner of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road (PIN 18-
13-05-400-012-0000).   
 
 
 
 

 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.57

1: 18,056

0 Miles

Will County Case ZC-23-091 (S-23-054)

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

11/2/2023 Date:

0.28

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Surrounding Counties

Townships

Municipalities

City of Aurora

Village of Beecher

Village of Bolingbrook

Village of Braceville

City of Braidwood

Village of Channahon

Village of Coal City

City of Crest Hill

Village of Crete

Village of Diamond

Village of Elwood

Village of Frankfort

Village of Godley

Village of Homer Glen

City of Joliet

Village of Lemont

City of Lockport

Village of Manhattan

Village of Minooka

Village of Mokena

Village of Monee

City of Naperville

Village of New Lenox

Village of Orland Park

Village of Park Forest

Village of Peotone

Village of Plainfield

Village of Rockdale

Village of Romeoville

Village of Shorewood

Village of Steger

Village of Symerton

Village of Tinley Park

Village of University Park

City of Wilmington

Village of Woodridge



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.28

1: 9,028

0 Miles

Will County Case ZC-23-091 (S-23-054)

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

11/2/2023 Date:

0.14

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships

Municipalities

City of Aurora

Village of Beecher

Village of Bolingbrook

Village of Braceville

City of Braidwood

Village of Channahon

Village of Coal City

City of Crest Hill

Village of Crete

Village of Diamond

Village of Elwood

Village of Frankfort

Village of Godley

Village of Homer Glen

City of Joliet

Village of Lemont

City of Lockport

Village of Manhattan

Village of Minooka

Village of Mokena

Village of Monee

City of Naperville

Village of New Lenox

Village of Orland Park

Village of Park Forest

Village of Peotone

Village of Plainfield

Village of Rockdale

Village of Romeoville

Village of Shorewood

Village of Steger

Village of Symerton

Village of Tinley Park

Village of University Park

City of Wilmington

Village of Woodridge

OSWEGO



Site Photos – Will County Case ZC-23-091 

 

Figure 1: Subject property, viewed looking southwest from intersection of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road. 

 

Figure 2: Subject property, viewed looking west from intersection of 104th Avenue and Kuse Road. 

 

 

 

 

   



mschwarz
Received







mschwarz
Received

















ZC-23-091 LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE NORTH ½ OF THE SOUTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 5, TOWNSHIP 34 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, GREEN GARDEN TOWNSHIP, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS EXCEPT THAT PART 
OF SAID NORTH ½ PREVIOUSLY CONVEYED TO THE COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY BY WARRANTY 
DEED DATED JULY 28, 1967 AND RECORDED SEPTEMBER 12, 1967 AS DOCUMENT R67-13252, IN WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AND SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT GRANTED TO THE TRANS-OHIO PIPELINE COMPANY 
BY DOCUMENT NUMBER R72-16574 DATED JUNE 8, 1972 AND RECORDED JUNE 16, 1972, IN WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

mschwarz
Received



mschwarz
Received



mschwarz
Received












	11.9.23 Staff Report - Public Hearing.pdf
	Page 3-8 - PC Minutes 4.27.23 SIGNED.pdf
	PC Minutes 4.27.23
	img-512102732-0001





